70746-4

#### No. 70746-9-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### GEORGE LIGHTNER,

Appellant,

۷.

CHAD SHOEMAKER and "JANE DOE" SHOEMAKER, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof,

Respondents.



BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Appellant

##

#### INTRODUCTION

>

1

This is a homeowner's action seeking an injunction enforcing the Birch Bay Village covenants restricting the height of trees to protect the beautiful views of the Village, its marina, and Birch Bay. Numerous provisions in the covenants – when their plain language is properly interpreted – are designed to protect the desirability of this community, first and foremost by protecting its views. Indeed, a 2010 regulation adopted by the community's Architectural Control and Maintenance Committee specifically requires that "owners should keep their trees and shrubs trimmed, de-limbed or topped so as not to infringe on neighbors['] views." See App. C.

But the trial court found the covenants "unclear and ambiguous," ruling that only one paragraph in the entire covenants (8(h) in App. A) was relevant and that a sentence fragment in that paragraph reflected the drafter's intent for the entire covenants. *See* App. B (FF 21 & 22; CL 3-6). This is not a legally permissible covenant interpretation, failing to place special emphasis on an interpretation that protects the homeowners' collective interests.

The trial judge said that he would like to give Lightner relief, if only he could. 7/26/12 RP 15-16. Legally, he could and should. This Court should reverse, remand, and award Lightner fees on appeal.

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1

ł

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that the clear and unambiguous covenants do not apply to certain trees, where the covenant unequivocally requires that "No trees, hedges, shrubbery or plantings of any kind whatsoever in excess of six feet in height shall be . . . maintained on any of said property." CP 129.<sup>1</sup>

2. The trial court erred in entering its Finding of Fact (FF) 15, which is really an erroneous Conclusion of Law (CL) that the "terms of the Covenant are unclear and ambiguous." CP 125.

3. The trial court erred entering its FF 16, which is really an erroneous CL that the "clear intent" of the covenants is "to preserve natural growth" and not to protect views. *Id*.

4. The trial court erred in entering its FF 21, which is really an erroneous CL construing the covenants. CP 126-28.

5. The trial court erred in entering its FF 22, which is really an erroneous CL that certain trees "are not subject to the six-foot limitation of the Covenants." CP 128.

6. The trial court erred in entering its FF 24, which is really an erroneous CL that neither party substantially prevailed. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Findings & Conclusions (CP 122-32) are attached as Appendix B.

7. The trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that "Paragraph 8(h) of the Covenants is the only paragraph that is relevant to this case." CP 128. It further erred in construing the covenant in CL 3 a. through g. CP 128-31.

8. The trial court erred in entering CL 4, 5, 6 & 10. CP 131.

9. The trial court erred in not reaching injunctive relief.

10. The trial court erred in entering its Judgment based on the above erroneous legal conclusions.

#### **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in determining that the covenants are unclear and ambiguous?

2. Did the trial court err in interpreting the entire covenant by looking solely at one sentence fragment, or even at one paragraph?

3. Taking all of the relevant provisions and circumstances into account, did the trial court err as a matter of law in determining that the intent of the drafter was solely to preserve the natural growth?

4. Did the trial court err in failing to reach Lightner's request for injunctive relief?

5. Should this Court determine that Lightner has substantially prevailed and is entitled to reasonable attorney fees here and below?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. When Lightner bought view property for his future retirement home in Birch Bay in 1987, he insisted on having view covenants, self-imposed regulations that prior owners had always respected.

Birch Bay is an unincorporated urban growth area near Blaine, in Whatcom County. The bay is just six miles south of the Canadian border, and connects to the Straights of Georgia. It has a beautiful marina, and the largest tide flat in Washington State.

George Lightner bought unrestricted view property in Birch Bay in 1987, intending to retire there. CP 124 (FF 9);<sup>2</sup> RP 56; Ex 1. He built a home (he was the general contractor) in 2002. RP 56. There still were no trees blocking his views at that time. Ex 2 B.

From the outset, Lightner had insisted on having view covenants. RP 57; CP 124 (FF 9). The Birch Bay Village covenants of 1966 contain several provisions pertinent here. Ex 4. First, they run with the land for the purpose of maintaining its desirability:

[The covenants] . . . shall constitute covenants running with the land, for the purpose of maintaining the desirability of said land . . . .

*Id.* at 2. Second, they reserve the Owner's right to enter upon any lot, block, tract, or parcel . . . to trim, cut and remove . . . trees . . . ."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unchallenged Findings are verities here. *See, e.g., Humphrey Indus., Ltd. v. Clay St. Assocs.*, 176 Wn.2d 662, 675, 295 P.3d 231 (2013).

*Id.* at 3.<sup>3</sup> Third, they established an Architectural Control and Maintenance committee ("ACC") to review and approve various matters, whose mission includes the "furtherance and promotion of the community welfare" through, among other things, "the setting of standards of care and maintenance of lots, parcels and tracts . . . and enforcement thereof." *Id.* at 7-8, 12-13.

Fourth, they limit building height to 18 feet (*id.* at 8) – at least in part – to protect views. RP 160. Similarly (fifth) they regulate the height of trees and shrubs:

h) <u>Trees, shrubs</u>. No trees or natural shrubbery shall be removed unless approved in writing by the architectural control and maintenance committee, it being the intention to preserve natural growth, in accordance with the Owner's plan of development.

No trees, hedges, shrubbery or plantings of any kind whatsoever in excess of six feet in height shall be placed, planted or maintained on any of the said property, nor shall any such tree, hedge, shrub or planting be allowed to grow in excess of such height, without written permission of the architectural control and maintenance committee.

Ex 4 at 10 (paragraphing added); attached as App. A; CP 125 (FF

14). As discussed *infra*, this unambiguous language says that (1)

permission is required to remove trees or natural shrubbery because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The "Owner" was Birch Bay Investors, fee simple owner of the land dedicated as Birch Bay Village Division No. 1. Ex 4 at 1. These Owner's rights were to be passed to the community club. *Id.* 3,  $\P$  3.

the Owner's plan of development intends to preserve the natural growth; and (2) no trees or other plants "of any kind whatsoever in excess of six feet in height shall be placed, planted or maintained" or "allowed to grow in excess of such height," without permission. *Id.* This too was designed – at least in part – to protect views. RP 161.

Sixth, the covenants create a community club to which all purchasers must belong, upon club approval. Ex 4 at 6-7. The club does many things, including "the setting of standards of care and maintenance of lots . . . and enforcement thereof . . . for the common good." *Id.* at 12-13. The club therefore promulgates Architectural Rules and Regulations. *See* Exs 5 (2010 version), 32 (1999 version). The applicable 2010 standards require approval to remove trees with trunks "greater than nineteen (19) inches in circumference." Ex 5 at 21. They also forbid view infringement (*id.*, emphasis added):

Trees or shrubs that infringe upon neighbors['] views are to be dealt with between neighbors. This is matter of good reason, judgment, and conscience, and is reciprocal between neighbors. Lot owners should keep their trees and shrubs trimmed, de-limbed or topped so as not to infringe on neighbors['] views.

If the club fails to enforce, owners many "take such steps in law or in equity as may be necessary for such enforcement." Ex 4 at 17. The prevailing party is entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees. *Id*.

Residents of Birch Bay generally comply with the standards. See, e.g., RP 67 (discussing Ex 2, photo G, showing numerous rounded tree tops). Indeed, the Shoemakers' predecessor in interest had always trimmed the trees in question here. CP 124 (FF 9); RP 69-71; Ex 2 (*compare* photos A & B *with* photos L-T). A neighbor also testified that prior to the Shoemakers, other residents had always trimmed their trees to protect the view. RP 96-97, 99. As with Lightner, this neighbor found the six-foot limitation on trees one of the main selling-points for his property. RP 96.

1

Chad Shoemaker purchased the property immediately to the southeast of Lightner's property in 1999. CP 124 (FF 9); Ex 3. He did not read the covenants at that time. RP 117.

#### B. By 2005, the Shoemakers had allowed their trees to block Lightner's view, as to which Lightner fruitlessly sought the club's assistance over the next six years.

By 2005, the Shoemakers had allowed their trees to begin blocking Lightner's view. CP 125 (FF 12); RP 78; Ex 6. After contacting the Shoemakers directly and receiving no response (*id.*) Lightner contacted Birch Bay's general manager, Meg Grable, in March 2006. RP 79; Ex 7. Grable wrote to Chad Shoemaker on April 7, 2006 (RP 80; Ex 9) directing him to ¶12.11 of the Architectural Rules and Regulations, stating (a) that "maintenance of trees . . . is

a matter of 'good neighbor/neighborhood' policy and is strongly encouraged"; and (b) that "Planted trees or shrubs that infringe upon neighbors' views should be reduced or removed." Ex 32 at 18.

Shoemaker responded to Lightner on April 11, 2006, refusing to cooperate. RP 79-80; Ex 8. On April 23, 2006, Grable asked Shoemaker to meet with Lighter and other neighbors to discuss the view issue. RP 81-82; Ex 10. As a result of this meeting, Shoemaker did some trimming that did not improve Lightner's view. RP 82-84. The other neighbors trimmed their trees nicely. RP 100-01; Ex 12.

Lightner sought further help from the club, but to no avail. RP 84-85. He retained counsel, who wrote to Shoemaker in November 2009. RP 85-86; Ex 14. At a subsequent meeting in the Lightners' back yard, Lightner asked the Shoemakers to trim the trees just to their roof line, but they refused. RP 86; CP 125 (FF 13).

Oddly, the Shoemakers instead sought permission to remove all of their trees. Ex 16. In accordance with long-standing policy, the ACC refused. Ex 19. The club send Lightner a letter quoting some regulations in February 2010, but nothing happened. RP 90; Ex 20. Lightner again asked them to help him, to no avail. RP 91; Ex 21.

C. Respondents Shoemaker admitted in their Amended Answer that their property was subject to the covenants restricting the height of foliage on their property.

- 6

In February 2011, appellant George Lightner sued respondents Shoemaker, seeking an injunction mandating that the Shoemakers comply with covenants requiring them to keep their foliage at or below six feet, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs. CP 4, 8. The Shoemakers answered, admitting several crucial factual allegations made in the Complaint. *Compare* CP 5-8 *with* CP 42 (Amended Answer). In relevant summary, the Shoemakers admitted (1) that their property was subject to certain covenants; (2) that those covenants restrict the height of their trees, hedges, shrubbery and plantings to six feet; (3) that the covenants allow Lightner to sue to enforce them; and (4) that the prevailing party in such a suit is entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees. *Id.* 

# D. The bench trial lasted two days, with the court hearing from eight witnesses, none of whom contradicted the Shoemakers' admissions.

The bench trial lasted two days. RP 3-288. The court heard from eight witnesses. *Id.* None of those witnesses denied the admissions set forth above. *Id.* A brief summary follows.

Lightner was not asking to have any large trees topped at six feet, but rather just to trim them even with the Shoemaker's roof line.

RP 10, 23, 28, 53, 93; Ex 22 (illustrative only) p. 10. Ken Bell, an arborist for 30 years, opined that the Shoemakers' trees that block Lightener's marina and ocean views can be trimmed in this way without harming them. RP 20-21, 25, 27, 30. The trees blocking Lightner's view were trimmed this way in the past. RP 25-26, 30; Ex 22, p. 13. Lightner saw no health problems with the trees that previously had been trimmed. RP 92. Bell recommends bringing them back to that prior level. RP 30.

Some of the largest trees were, however, topped at six feet some 10-to-15 years ago. RP 33, 44. Those (south side) trees are much larger now, so new trimming should occur over two growing seasons. RP 31-32. While topping them at six feet now would kill them, they suffered no harm from cutting at about the Shoemakers' roof line, and doing so again will not harm them. RP 31-32. No trees would be cut lower than 10 feet. RP 51.

The Shoemakers' expert, arborist Paul Hans Thompson, opined at length against "topping"<sup>4</sup> the trees at six feet – an issue not before the court. RP 175-80, 190; Ex 34. He also opined about "topping" them to the Shoemakers' roof line, which could be harmful.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Topping" as technically defined – a severe cut – was not recommended by either expert in this case. *Compare* RP 40 *with* RP 184-87.

RP 181-84. But he acknowledged that suitable alternatives exist, including crown reduction and selective removal. RP 184-87. Some of the Shoemakers' trees had been reduced by as much as 25% in the past, without harm. RP 195-96. Thompson conceded that with proper techniques, the height of the trees can be reduced to prior levels without causing significant risk. RP 190-91, 197. Indeed, he recommended quite a bit of pruning. RP 199-202. Ultimately, he agreed that with proper techniques, he could assist the Lightners with their view, while maintaining tree health. RP 207.

The Shoemakers planted a row of arborvitae (also known as hedging cedars) on the Shoemaker/Lightner boundary. CP 125 (FF 11); RP 28, 38, 67-68 (discussing Ex 2, photos H & I), 118; Ex 22, p. 8. When they grow above six feet, some of them block the view from Lightner's lower bedroom window, so he asked that they be kept to six feet. RP 68, 92. It was uncontradicted that they can be trimmed to six feet with no adverse effects. RP 28, 33, 38.

Chad Shoemaker claimed that two years prior to trial he had trimmed the tops of some larger trees to create "view corridors" for Lightner, while admitting, "[o]f course, when you've got four or five trees stacked in front of each other, you're not going to be able to see, but you can move to another window, too." RP 107-10, 127;

see also RP 113 (there are about 20 trees in one such "corridor"). Shoemaker conceded that the two large trees on or near Lightner's property do not block the view, "because the limbs have been trimmed up to where you can see underneath them." RP 110.

Shoemaker testified that "the privacy function" of his trees is "extremely important to my wife and I." RP 120; Exs 30-31 (photos of back deck and hot tub taken from Shoemakers' own property). While Shoemaker said he can see the third level of Lightener's home from his back deck, Lightner testified that he cannot see into the Shoemakers' back area or windows. RP 87, 137-38.

Shoemaker also expressed concern about the safety of the slope behind his home. RP 121. His arborist thought that "topping" the trees could create erosion problems. RP 187-88. But arborist Bell testified that bringing these trees to their prior height at the roof line (lowering them about eight feet) would not remove a substantial portion of the canopy, so it would not affect soil stability. RP 35, 38; Ex 22, p. 9. Indeed, it will eventually create more canopy to protect the ground from rainfall impacts. RP 35.

Shoemaker also put on a geotechnical engineer who opined – based on the Shoemakers' false assertion that Lightner was asking to cut all of the trees to six feet – that such extreme cutting would

create a slide hazard and that county regulations would not allow even trimming for view purposes in this area. RP 227, 232. But the supervisor of Whatcom County Planning and Development Services natural resources division testified that this area generally would be exempt from such restrictions, and that even if a slide hazard existed, view trimming could be allowed with proper mitigation techniques. RP 242-43, 244-45. Mr. Lightner – a contractor with a degree in geology – sees no potential problems with the slope stability behind his home. RP 55, 63-66, 92; Ex 2, photos F & G.

The Birch Bay Village Community Club's general manager, Ken Hoffer, agreed that the covenants, rules, and regulations pertaining to protecting views are "alive and well." RP 165. But the club is neutral on enforcing the rules. *Id.* Healthy thinning and trimming require no club permission. *Id.* 

#### E. The trial court entered Findings strongly supporting the Lighters, but it indulged in a rather strained interpretation of the covenants.

The trial court entered extensive Findings and Conclusions that are attached as App. B. CP 122-32. As noted above, the Findings largely support the Lightner's case. CP 122-28. But as discussed in the argument *infra*, the trial court so pruned and hedged the covenants as to render them unrecognizable.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. Standards of review.

i.

The primary issue on appeal is whether the trial court erred in interpreting the covenants - a legal question, reviewed de novo. Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn. App. 100, 105, 267 P.3d 435 (2011) (citing Wimberly v. Caravello, 136 Wn. App. 327, 336, 149 P.3d 402 (2006)). The "primary objective in interpreting restrictive covenants [protective covenants are equally descriptive] is to determine the intent of the parties . . . . " Mains Farm Homeowners Ass'n v. Worthington, 121 Wn.2d 810, 815, 854 P.2d 1072 (1993) (quoting Lakes at Mercer Island Homeowners Ass'n v. Witrak, 61 Wn. App. 177, 179, 810 P.2d 27, review denied, 117 Wn.2d 1013 (1991) (footnote omitted)); accord Saunders v. Meyers, 175 Wn. App. 427, 438-439, 306 P.3d 978 (2013) (citing Bauman v. Turpen, 139 Wn. App. 78, 88-89, 160 P.3d 1050 (2007)). The Court examines the protective covenants as a whole, considering all provisions. Ross v. Bennett, 148 Wn. App. 40, 49, 203 P.3d 383 (2008) (citing *Bauman*, 139 Wn. App. at 89). Unless the entire covenant clearly demonstrates a contrary intent, the Court gives the words in a covenant their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning. Jensen, 165 Wn. App. at 105 (citing Hearst Commc'ns,

*Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)). In short, courts will not read a protective covenant so as to defeat its plain and obvious meaning. *Viking Props, Inc. v. Holm*, 155 Wn.2d 112, 120, 118 P.3d 322 (2005).

1

1

Yet the trial court here erroneously concluded that covenant paragraph 8(h) "is the only paragraph that is relevant to this case" (CP 128) and found that it is "unclear and ambiguous" (CP 125). Aside from the obvious problems with focusing on a single paragraph, to be ambiguous "a covenant must be uncertain or two or more reasonable and fair interpretations must be possible." *Jensen*, 165 Wn. App. at 105 (citing *White v. Wilhelm*, 34 Wn. App. 763, 771, 665 P.2d 407 (1983)). But protective covenants are favored, so the courts' interpretation must take care not to frustrate the homeowners' collective interests:

Subdivision covenants tend to enhance the efficient use of land and its value. The value of maintaining the character of the neighborhood in which the burdened land is located is a value shared by the owners of the other properties burdened by the same covenants. **Riss v. Angel**, 131 Wn.2d [612,] 622-24[, 934 P.2d 669 (1997)]. Thus, we must place "special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the homeowners collective interests." **Riss**, 131 Wn.2d at 623-24 (quoting **Lakes at Mercer Island Homeowners Ass'n v. Witrak**, 61 Wn. App. 177, 181, 810 P.2d 27 (1991)). Accordingly, if more than one reasonable interpretation of the covenants is possible regarding an issue, we must favor that interpretation which avoids frustrating the reasonable expectations of those affected by the covenants' provisions.

Green v. Normandy Park Riviera Section Cmty. Club, Inc., 137 Wn. App. 665, 683, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007), review denied, 163 Wn.2d 1003 (2008); see also Viking Props., Inc., 155 Wn.2d at 124 ("Allowing private property owners to protect their rights by entering into restrictive covenants has long been favored in this state").

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