70746-9

2014 APR 30

PH 3:

00

No. 70746-9

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GEORGE LIGHTNER,

Appellant,

VS.

CHAD SHOEMAKER and BILLIE SHOEMAKER, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR WHATCOM COUNTY THE HONORABLE CHARLES R. SNYDER

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondents

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

The plain language of the covenant reflect the intent of the drafters "to preserve natural growth." (Ex. 4, § 8(h); FF 21(b), CP 126; CL 3(a), CP 129) That intent is reflected not just in the words used by the drafters but in undisputed evidence of the community aesthetic: a "beautiful wooded community" with "trees everywhere," and hundreds of those trees being over 60 feet tall. (RP 115, 158) Both parties acknowledged that when they acquired their properties there were already trees in place that were well over 6 feet tall. (RP 59, 118, 173) The trial found that it "would not be practical" to "maintain" naturally growing trees, such as Shoemaker's trees, at six feet, because it is "harmful to the trees, and in some cases would kill them." (CL 4, CP 131)

Lightner assigns error to these findings and conclusions, but provides no meaningful challenge to the substantial evidence supporting them. *Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC,* 161 Wn. App. 474, 497, ¶ 36, 254 P.3d 835 (2011) (appellant waived challenge for failing to provide analysis or argument for why challenged findings are not supported by substantial evidence). The trial court properly interpreted the covenant to require only planted or placed trees and shrubs to be limited to, and maintained at, six feet, and to allow "naturally occurring" trees to grow taller to both encourage and preserve natural growth. (CL 3 (a), (b), (c), CP 129)

In any event, the trial court properly found that the term "maintained" in the covenant was "questionable" in light of the expressed objective of fostering natural growth, and thus framing the question as "does that mean only the maintenance and maintaining of placed and planted shrubs, or does it mean the maintenance of anything that exists on the lot? And so the court has to figure out what was the intent at the time that was created." (7/26 RP 9) *See Wilkinson*, ____ Wn.2d ___. ¶ 13 (in interpreting restrictive covenants, the "primary objective" is "determining the drafter's intent").

21

Lightner acknowledges that the Court must "examine the protective covenant as a whole, considering all provisions." (App. Br. 14, *citing Ross v. Bennet*, 148 Wn. App. 40, 49, 203 P.3d 383 (2008), *rev. denied*, 166 Wn.2d 1012 (2009)) But Lightner's argument — that this two-sentence covenant is "clear and unambiguous" and "unequivocally forbids maintaining trees of 'any kind whatsoever in excess of six feet in height'" — is only true if each sentence is read alone and in a vacuum. (App. Br. 18-19) According to Lightner, the second sentence stands alone, and "unequivocally forbids maintaining trees of six feet in height," while the intent "to preserve natural growth" only relates to the removal of trees. (App. Br. 18-19)

When interpreting a covenant, the court "must place special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the homeowners' collective interests." *Riss v. Angel,* 131 Wn.2d 612, 624-25, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). In this case, the "homeowners' collective interests" could not be clearer — "to preserve natural growth." (Ex. 4, § 8(h)) The architectural rules, also further this collective interest, stating their "purpose" and "objective" are the "preservation of the natural environment." (Ex. 5, § 1.1(e); Ex. 32, § 1.4.2) That collective interest is reflected in the landscape of this wooded community with large trees.

Lightner's argument that the covenant restricts "any tree whatsoever" to six feet, would undermine the interests of the "collective" solely for the benefit of the uphill homeowners who wish to preserve their views. And as the trial court found, there is nothing in the covenants that protects, preserves, or entitles homeowners to view rights. (FF 16, CP 125; FF 21(e), CP 127)

The Birch Bay community has never interpreted the covenant to "unequivocally forbid maintaining trees 'of any kind whatsoever in excess of six feet in height," as Lightner argues. (App. Br. 19). Thousands of trees in the community exceed six feet in height. (RP 115, 158) The general manager of Birch Bay confirmed that this provision has never been enforced as Lightner interprets it. (RP 152) "If a covenant which applies to an entire tract has been habitually and substantially violated so as to create an impression that it has been abandoned, equity will not enforce the covenant." *White v. Wilhelm*, 34 Wn. App. 763, 769, 665 P.2d 407, *rev. denied*, 100 Wn.2d 1025 (1983). While the trial court held that the covenant has not been abandoned, this court may affirm on any ground supported by the record. RAP 2.5(a). The fact that the

covenant purportedly limiting all trees to six feet in height has never been enforced provides an alternate basis for refusing to order Shoemaker to trim all of his trees to preserve Lightner's view.

2. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that the covenant does not protect views.

The trial court properly interpreted the covenant to preserve natural growth, rather than views. There is "no common law right to a view," *Asche v. Bloomquist*, 132 Wn. App. 784, 797, ¶ 28, 133 P.3d 475 (2006), *rev. denied*, 159 Wn.2d 1005 (2007) (*citing Collinson v. John L. Scott, Inc.*, 55 Wn. App. 481, 485, 778 P.2d 534 (1989)). The covenants do "not provide for 'view protection,' 'view preservation' or 'view rights.'" (FF 16, CP 125; FF 21(e), CP 127; CL 3(d), CP 127; Ex. 4) Substantial evidence supports that decision.

The absence of any language in the covenants stating an intent to protect views makes this case different than *Saunders v*. *Meyers*, 175 Wn. App. 427, 306 P.3d 978 (2013) relied on by Lightner. (App. Br. 22) In *Saunders*, a covenant provided that "No trees of any type, other than those existing at the time these restrictive covenants [] are filed, shall be allowed to grow more than twenty (20) feet in height, provided they do not unnecessarily interfere with the view of another residence." 175 Wn. App. at 432,

¶ 3. This Court held that the plain language of the provision exempted a tree that existed at the time the restrictive covenants were filed from the 20 feet height restriction, but not from the view restriction. The stated intent of the covenant in *Saunders* was to "protect views:" with view protection as its "primary concern, it is unlikely that the drafters would have been overly concerned with new, height-limited trees obstructing views, but have no concern whatsoever that existing trees, some already 60 feet high, would become even larger view obstructions." *Saunders*, 175 Wn. App. at 442, ¶ 34.

Here, there is no evidence that view protection was a "primary" or even ancillary concern for the drafters of the covenants. Instead, their "primary concern" in imposing the covenants was a "plan of development" that "preserve[d] natural growth." (Ex. 4, § 8(h)) Consistent with that plan of development, the trial court properly determined that the drafters intended to place limits on newly introduced trees and shrubs, including height restrictions, but to place no such limits on naturally occurring trees. (CL 3(a)-(g), CP 128-31)

Lightner is wrong when he claims that the trial court considered only the covenant addressing trees and shrubs in finding that the covenants as a whole were not intended to protect views. (Compare App. Br. 15, 18 with CL 6, CP 131: "This interpretation is consistent with the remainder of the covenants"; FF 21(f), CP 127: "The Covenants do not provide for or even mention the issue of view protection.") The only other covenants cited by Lightner to support his claim that "numerous additional provisions protect[] views" (App Br. 30) state that the covenants run with the land "for the purpose of maintaining the desirability of said land" (Ex. 4, \P b) and limit the heights of the building to 18 feet. (Ex. 4, § 8(c))

Maintaining the "desirability of [the] land" does not necessarily "protect[] views." Instead, as the trial court found, the land is desirable if protected by covenants that "preserve natural growth" and maintains the aesthetics of Birch Bay as a wooded community by placing height restrictions on newly introduced trees and prohibiting the removal of trees without approval. (FF 21(b), CP 126-27; FF 21(g), CP 127-28; CL 3(a), CP 129; CL 3(g), CP 131; CL 4, CP 131; RP 115; Ex. 4, § 8(h); Exs. 26, 27, 28, 29, 36)

Likewise, a building height restriction serves purposes other than protecting views. *See Day v. Santorsola*, 118 Wn. App. 746, 76 P.3d 1190 (2003). In *Day*, this Court affirmed the trial court's determination that a covenant that limited buildings to no more than "two stories in height" without more, "emphasize[d] height not view." Day, 118 Wn. App. at 758. This Court held that if the drafters intended for building height to serve as "view protection" they could have stated so, as they did in a covenant that required that trees "not exceed[] 20 feet, nor to any height which tends to block the view from other tracts within said premises." Day, 118 Wn. App. at 756. This Court agreed with the trial court that there are other reasons for building height restrictions other than view protection, including to "prohibit what one might characterize as a giant home, or a skyscraper, or a tall commercial building structure." Day, 118 Wn. App. at 755-56. As in Day, the height restriction here was likely intended to avoid "giant homes" and to "maintain harmony of exterior design with existing structures." (Ex. 4, § 8(b)).

Likewise *Bauman v. Turpen*, 139 Wn. App. 78, 160 P.3d 1050 (2007), does not support Lightner's argument that the trial court should have found that a building height restriction was a "view covenant," even in the absence of any language referring to views. (App. Br. 21) In *Bauman*, the covenants bound only downhill lots to height restrictions. This Court affirmed the trial court's finding that the height limitation on only the downhill lots served as a "view-protection device" favoring the uphill lots. *Bauman*, 139 Wn. App. at 90-91, ¶¶ 19, 21. Here, the covenants equally protect uphill and downhill owners from buildings taller than 18 feet.

Foster v. Nehls, 15 Wn. App. 749, 551 P.2d 768 (1976), rev. denied, 88 Wn.2d 1001 (1977) (App. Br. 21) also does not help Lightner, because there was evidence from the original planner and developer in that case that the purpose of the restrictive covenant limiting the size of homes was to prevent view obstructions. The Foster court held that evidence of the developer's original intent supported the trial court's decision to order defendants to remove the second story of their newly constructed home because it interfered with the view of their neighbors. 15 Wn. App. at 751-52.

Foster is questionable authority because Hollis v. Garwall, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 683, 696, 974 P.2d 836 (1999), decided more than twenty years later, held that the unilateral and subjective intent of one of the original drafters was not admissible to "redraft or add to the language of the covenant." Hollis, 137 Wn.2d at 695-96. That Lightner, not a drafter, believed that the covenants should protect his "virtually unobstructed" view is not the type of extrinsic evidence admissible under *Hollis*. 137 Wn.2d at 695. (App. Br. 23)

Contrary to Lightner's argument, no "additional provisions" in the covenants or other extrinsic evidence support a finding that the drafters intended to protect views. The trial court properly found that the "covenants do not provide for or even mention the issue of view protection and there is no enforceable right under the covenant to protect views." (FF 21(f), CP 127)

B. The architectural rules cannot and do not grant view protections that do not exist in the covenants.

The trial court properly found that the architectural rules cannot support an interpretation that adds view protection, when that protection is not already provided for under the covenants. The trial court considered the architectural rules when interpreting the covenants, but accurately noted that "you can't change the language of the covenants by the architectural rules and regulations. The covenants are recorded. They are what they are and can only be changed by the amendment process set forth in the covenants." (7/26 RP 9-10)

The architectural rules, which were adopted more than 30 years after the covenants were recorded, cannot place more burdens

(or grant more rights) to the homeowners than the covenants provides. See e.g., Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 625, 934 P.2d 669 (1997) ("a consent to construction covenant cannot operate to place restrictions on a lot which are more burdensome than those imposed by the specific covenants"); Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 694, ¶ 70, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1003 (2008) (Association acted reasonably when it did not "attempt to impose more burdensome setback requirements than those imposed by the specific setback provisions of the covenants themselves"). In other words, as the trial court acknowledged, the architectural rules cannot add view protections in the covenants that do not exist, and cannot standing alone provide a basis to require Shoemaker to trim his naturally occurring trees to accommodate Lightner's views. (7/26 RP 9, 16)

The adoption of the architecture rules by Birch Bay's Board of Directors, and not by consent of the homeowners, cannot amend the covenants to add view protections that do not already exist within the covenants. Although the covenants can be amended to "change (but not increase) the requirements or burdens thereof," it can only be done with the written consent of 66-2/3% of the owners. (Ex. 4, § 15) See Ebel v. Fairwood Park II Homeowners'

30

Ass'n, 136 Wn. App. 787, 792-93, ¶ 17, 150 P.3d 1163 (2007) ("In order for an amendment to be valid, it must be adopted according to the procedures set up in the covenants and it must be consistent with the general plan of the development.")

The trial court instead properly reconciled the 2010 architectural rules and the covenants. The trial court found that both the earlier and current architectural rules leave the issue of views between neighbors, and as "a matter of good reason, judgment, and conscience." (CL 3(f), CP 130; Ex. 5, § 10.4.2; Ex. 32, § 12.11) The trial court reasoned that the provision in the current rules providing that owners "should" trim their trees so as to not infringe views was only advisory, and was not mandatory. (7/26 RP 11) See State v. Smith, 174 Wn. App. 359, 368, ¶ 22, 298 P.3d 785 (recognizing that "should" can be interpreted as "strongly encouraging," "permissive," "the weaker companion to the obligatory ought," and "expresses mere appropriateness, suitability, or fittingness."), rev. denied, 178 Wn.2d 1008 (2013). Therefore, the trial court properly concluded that the architectural rules do not support enforceable view rights to the homeowners, because the architectural rules "anticipate that, consistent with the covenants, views may be infringed upon." (CL 3(f), CP 130)

The architectural rules did not grant view protection to the Birch Bay homeowners. Consistent with the trial court's interpretation of the covenants, the trial court properly ordered Shoemaker to trim his planted arborvitae to six feet, and rejected Lightner's demands that Shoemaker trim his naturally occurring trees.

C. This court should award Shoemaker fees pursuant to the covenants.

A prevailing party may recover attorney fees authorized by statute, equitable principles, or agreement between the parties. *Wiley v. Rehak*, 143 Wn.2d 339, 348, 20 P.3d 404 (2001).⁷ The covenants provide that a party prevailing in an enforcement proceeding "shall have from his opponent such attorneys' fees as the court may deem reasonable." (Ex. 4) Shoemaker has a right to the attorney fees incurred on appeal in defending the trial court's eminently reasonable judgment. This Court should award Shoemaker those fees. *See* RCW 4.84.330 (prevailing party entitled to attorney fees if provided for under a contract); RAP 18.1.

⁷ In a one-line statement in Lightner's request for attorney fees, he asks this court to "reverse, including the trial court's conclusion that neither party prevailed." (App. Br. 32) Although he assigned error to this finding, Lightner presented no reasoned argument for his challenge in the Argument section of his brief, as RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires. This court should decline to consider this inadequately briefed challenge. *Matter of Guardianship of Atkins*, 57 Wn. App. 771, 775, 790 P.2d 210 (1990) ("An assignment of error not supported by argument or authority is waived.").

V. CONCLUSION

The trial court properly interpreted the covenants. This Court should affirm and award attorney fees to Shoemaker.